1955

# John G. Matievitch v. Hercules Power Co. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

This was an action brought as a result of a premature explosion in blasting by the use of caps and dynamite. That prior to the time of trial the counsel for the defendant moved for summary judgment, which judgment was granted by the District Court and from which summary judgment (R. 45) the plaintiff now appeals.

The plaintiff was employed at the time of the explosion as a powder man by the Utah Portland Cement Company in

their LeGrand quarry in Parley's Canyon in Salt Lake Count, Utah, (R. 26 and R. 15).

On January 9, 1951, the date of the explosion, the plaintiff was preparing the charges which broke up the rocks which had been blasted from the quarry, by loading powder in the holes drilled in the rocks (R. 29). The plaintiff had placed a cap and a stick of dynamite in the hole prepared by the drillers, who had preceeded him, and before he had completed the process, in fact, just as he put the dynamite in the hole, which hole was eight to twelve inches deep, the dynamite being eight inches long, the cap and dynamite blew up (R. 36). The plaintiff was horribly injured, being blinded in both eyes, having one arm blown off just below the wrist, one arm lacerated and cut, and both legs injured.

The plaintiff had worked for the Portland Cement Company in the quarry from 1936 to 1942 (R. 25). He started working for the Company again in 1949 and was working for them until the accident occurred (R. 26). The plaintiff had worked with the powder men from 1936 to 1942 and part of the time as powder man himself and from July 1949 to January 9, 1951 had worked as powder man and drilled with the powder crew (R. 27).

At the time of the explosion, the plaintiff was using caps and dynamite furnished to the Utah Portland Cement Company by the Hercules Powder Company (R. 1, 11, and 16) and loaded the particular hole with the cap and dynamite in exactly the same manner which he had always done and which, in his many years at the quarry, had been done by all

other powder men (R. 16) and in accordance with instructions given him by his supervisors and persons training him.

On numerous and sundry occasions representatives of the Hercules Powder Company had watched the plaintiff and other powder men load holes in exactly the same manner as the hole was loaded on January 9, 1951, and had never disapproved of the method, questioned it, or asked them to change in any way (R. 16 and R. 36).

The plaintiff prepared the caps himself and opened the original package containing the dynamite and the powder caps and they were both in the original packages, still sealed as they came from the manufacturer. The plaintiff had read all of the cautions in times past and knew the contents thereof set forth in the packages of powder and caps as shown at R. 14 and had not on this morning done anything which he was warned against, but had followed his usual procedure.

At the time the motion for summary judgment was made the counsel for the plaintiff conceded that there was no direct evidence as to the composition of the cap and dynamite as all the evidence was destroyed in the explosion and that it would be impossible to prove from the powder and cap itself the negligence or the failure of the defendant to manufacture the caps and dynamite in a safe and satisfactory manner.

The plaintiff stated that he was relying on indirect evidence and circumstances to prove the negligence of the defendant company and the theory of *res ipsa loquitur* to support his position. Two affidavits were filed by powder men other than the plaintiff (see Rudelick and Harwood affidavits (R. 15 &



20) who had worked in this particular rock quarry, one of them having been a powder man for many years, and having been trained by the government in the proper manner of handling powder (R. 20) From the affidavits and other evidence it was clear that the plaintiff had done nothing himself to cause the explosion. Louis Rudelich, as an expert, stated that it was his opinion that the only possible cause of the explosion of the dynamite and cap in this particular case would be that the cap and/or the dynamite was defectively manufactured (R. 22).

In spite of the direct expert opinion evidence the court held that there had to be direct evidence to show the negligence of the defendant and granted the summary judgment.

The counsel for the plaintiff stated that other evidence would be introduced showing the acts of the plaintiff could not have caused the explosion and evidence to show that caps or dynamite manufactured in the usual manner and standard could not be made to explode under the circumstances in this case.

In considering this case, it should be kept in mind that the full case of the plaintiff has definitely not been put on and all of the proof and evidence are certainly not in, but as the evidence to be presented was rather indirect, the court allowed the motion for summary judgment.

## STATEMENT OF POINTS RELIED UPON

THE COURT ERRED IN GRANTING THE MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT IN THE FOLLOWING PARTICULARS:



1. There was a disputed fact as to the negligence of the defendant which should have been allowed to go to the jury.

2. There was direct expert opinion evidence shown in the affidavit by qualified witnesses to support the disputed facts.

3. The facts and contentions of the plaintiff, if true, created a prima facie case and the court erred by not allowing the plaintiff to prove it by circumstantial evidence and let the jury decide the question.

4. That even if the plaintiff could not prove his case by direct or circumstantial evidence, the case still should be tried and permitted to go to the jury on the theory of *res ipsa loquitur*.

## ARGUMENT

### POINT NO. 1

THERE WAS A DISPUTED FACT AS TO THE NEGLIGENCE OF THE DEFENDANT WHICH SHOULD HAVE BEEN ALLOWED TO GO TO THE JURY.

It is a well known fact and recognized beyond argument that in all cases where there is a disputed fact that the case should be permitted to go to the jury for the jury to decide.

In a motion for summary judgment it is the law that all the evidence, pleadings, and affidavits of the party opposing the motion for summary judgment should be construed in a light most favorable to the party so opposing. It would seem

that this had not been done in this particular case or the motion would have been denied.

In the instant case there was a direct dispute in the alleged negligence as it was alleged in complaint (R. 1, 2, and 3) and denied in the answer (R. 7, 18, and 19). Inasmuch as the dispute in the pleadings is clear, it would leave the decision to be based on the feight of the evidence which will be discussed further.

The motion for summary judgment was made under the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, Rule 56, which is practically an exact take off on the U. S. Rule of Civil Procedure for summary judgments, also numbered Rule 56. A study of the U. S. Rule supports the contentions of the plaintiff herein. This is set forth in the United States Code Annotated, Vol. 28, Rule 56, Note 4 and the following: Lincoln Electric Company vs. Knox (1944) 56 Federal Supplement 308:

"This rule was never intended to throw on the court the burden of determining a case involving a delicate question of the law, complicated and controverted facts, without an adequate and proper hearing."

It further states in Chemical Foundation vs. Universal Cyclops (1942) 2 F.R.D. 283:

"It was not the intention of this rule relating to Summary Judgment that a case should be tried by Affidavit as a substitute for trial in the usual way in open court where the right of cross-examination exists."

Page 14 of the above cited volume states:

"A summary judgment should never be given until the facts are clear and undisputed, and if there is *any*

(emphasis supplied) controversy on a factual question judgment should be withheld until proof is made.”

U.S.C.A. Vol. 28, Rule 56, Note 9, Page 155 states:

“Under this rule, summary judgment is authorized only where it affirmatively appears from the pleadings, depositions, affidavits, and admissions on file that except as to the amount of damages there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the mover is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.”

Citing from the same Rule, *Ryan vs. Broderick*, 56 Federal Supplement, 189 (1945) states:

“A motion for summary judgment cannot be made a substitute for a trial either before a court or a jury, and a plaintiff who states a cause of action which entitle him to a trial by jury is entitled to have his case tried in that way and cannot be compelled to submit his evidence in the form of affidavits in resistance to a motion for summary judgment.”

It would seem very clear from the above citations that the District Judge had erred in granting the motion for summary judgment as there is no question as to the dispute in the record and there is absolutely nothing in the record to show the actual cause of the explosion, and the jury should be entitled to find the real cause. The only thing in opposition to the plaintiff's theory that the defendant was negligent in manufacture was the very nebulous statement that dynamite is dangerous and should be handled carefully.

It is still going to have to be decided just exactly what did happen to cause the accident. The plaintiff's theories and the defendant's other theories have not been placed in evidence.

It would seem that the court by its ruling is compelling or will compel each and every plaintiff to present all of his evidence in the form of depositions or affidavits so that everything could be examined before the trial, contrary to the general intent and interpretation of Rule 56, and that the trial court has passed judgment prematurely. This is supported by *Begnaud vs. White* (1948) 170 F. 2d 323:

“The Trial Judge should be slow in passing upon the motion for Summary Judgment which would deprive party of right to trial by jury where the material fact is disputed.”

To allow the ruling to stand in the present case would practically do away with trials except in cases where there is actual direct evidence of eye witnesses.

## POINT NO. II

THERE WAS DIRECT OPINION EVIDENCE SHOWN IN THE AFFIDAVIT BY QUALIFIED WITNESSES TO SUPPORT THE DISPUTED FACT.

The court erred in ignoring the opinion evidence of Louis Rudelich, who was qualified as an expert as shown by his affidavit. Instead of assuming that the explosion was the result of a defective cap or dynamite as the court was bound to do in considering the motion, the court entirely ignored the opinion evidence of Louis Rudelich, who seems to have been the most qualified of any person shown in the record to say what caused the accident. The direct conclusion of Mr. Rudelich is that

the explosion could not have been caused by anything except defective materials furnished by the defendant (R. 22).

It is such a well established fact under the law that experts are allowed to express their opinion even though they cannot testify directly as to the actual occurrence, that it would seem to be specious to argue the point. However, it seems to have been ignored in this instance. From the record in a number of powder cases which have been reported, opinion evidence was used in similar situations where the actual evidence was just as nebulous and indirect as it is in the present case.

This was true in the case of *Morris vs. E. I. Dupont Ne Mours*, (1937) 109 S. W. 1222, and *Hopkins vs. E. I. Dupont Ne Mours*, (1952) 199 Fed. 2d 930. In this latter case, opinion evidence of an expert was clearly allowed both for the plaintiff and the defendant, and the court, from its opinion, very clearly recognized the expert opinion of a man trained by practical experience over the years, such as is the case with Mr. Rudelich. This case will be cited further.

From the above it would seem clear that without any further evidence, except the statement of Mr. Rudelich, this motion should have been denied.

### POINT III

THAT THE FACTS AND CONTENTIONS OF THE PLAINTIFF, IF TRUE, CREATED A PRIMA FACIE CASE AND THE COURT ERRED BY NOT ALLOWING THE PLAINTIFF TO PROVE IT BY CIRCUMSTANTIAL EVIDENCE AND THE JURY DECIDE THE QUESTION.

The court erred in not allowing the plaintiff to prove his contentions by the use of circumstantial evidence. With respect to circumstantial evidence as proof of a fact, attention is called to Volume 20, Am. Jur., Section 271:

"The competency of circumstantial evidence is not open to question, provided it is the *best evidence* which the nature of the case admits, or its use is not prevented by a binding contractual provision which excludes use of circumstantial evidence arises either from the nature of the inquiry or the failure of direct proof, considerable latitude is allowed in the reception of circumstantial evidence. No evidence should be excluded of any fact or circumstance connected with the principal transaction in dispute from which an inference as to the truth of irrelevancy are not favored for the reason that the force and effect of circumstantial facts usually and almost necessarily depend upon their connection with each other. However, a fact is admissible as a basis of an inference only where the desired inference is of an interference only where the desired inference is a probable or natural explanation of the fact and a more probable and natural one than other explanations, if any.

The attorney for the plaintiff calls attention to the case of *Park vs. Moorman Manufacturing Company* (1952) 241 Pac. 2nd, 914, which was tried by this attorney. That was a case of chickens dying from use of feed, and in that case there was absolutely no direct evidence to show that the manufacturer was negligent in the manufacturing of the feed, and it was admitted that the feed which was purported to have caused the death had no deleterious or poisonous substances and was constituted exactly as represented by the manufacturer, and that the feed in and of itself could not kill the chickens.



During the course of the trial, there were many other reasons shown why the death of the chickens involved could have been the result of numerous and sundry other factors and illnesses rather than the feed in question. However, it was submitted to the jury and even though there was no direct evidence, judgment was obtained and was unanimously upheld by the Utah Supreme Court in 1952. The case is being reported and annotated in the A. L. R., second series.

With respect to circumstantial evidence and its proof it comes very close to involving the theory of *res ipsa loquitur*, as *res ipsa loquitur* is based somewhat on circumstances and inferences.

However, the Pennsylvania case of *Hopkins vs. E. I. Dupont Ne Mours*, 199 Fed. 2d 930, was based strictly on circumstantial evidence, and the doctrine of *res ipsa loquitur* was not considered, as the court of Pennsylvania has previously held that *res ipsa loquitur* does not apply in explosion cases.

In this case, the plaintiff's husband was drilling bore holes about six feet deep which were to be filled with dynamite, and at the time of the filling, another drill was operating within five feet of the hole. Defendant's expert testified that the explosion was caused by heat and/or vibration from the drilling in the adjacent hole. The court cited *Maize vs. Atlantic Refining Co.*, 352 Pa. 51, stating that the *Maize* case stands for the proposition that one who supplies an instrumentality for the use by others and who knows or should know that the foreseeable use is dangerous for human life unless certain precautions are taken and who realize or should realize that



the probable user will not recognize the danger is under a duty to warn of such danger and to advise the proper precautions.

Quoting the Hopkins vs. Ne Mours case, the court stated, the defendants

“ . . . attempted to parry the thrust of the Maize case by saying it is inapplicable here. Defendant tells us that everybody knows that dynamite is dangerous and there is no need to warn against the obvious, but the plaintiff's theory does not go to the generally dangerous character of the dynamite.”

Says everyone should know that dynamite should not be thrown in the fire, but construction workers don't know that heat or vibration of drilling will cause an explosion and should be warned of the danger. The case further shows that the defendant was warned by publishing the safety list of 63 “don'ts” (apparently the same 63 “don'ts” as shown in the affidavit of L. W. Early, R. 13) and that item No. 21 warns against loading the final charge in a sprung hole until it is cooled off. The court said, however, there was no warning about the new hole. The defendant claimed there was no competent proof by the plaintiff as to the actual happening and no proof of negligence from the mere happening of the event, but the court stated:

“PROOF TO A DEGREE OF MATHEMATICAL PRECISION IS NOT REQUIRED.” (Emphasis supplied.)

And it further states:

“That it is not the rule that circumstantial evidence need exclude everything which the ingenuity of counsel may suggest as having caused or contributed to death.”

In the Hopkins vs. Ne Mours case, the lower court had found in favor of the defendant, based on lack of direct evidence, but the Federal Court reversed it and found for the plaintiff.

In the Morris vs. E. I. Dupont Ne Mours (previously cited) the drill holes were in clay and the holes were four feet deep and were loaded by pushing the dynamite and cap in with the tamping stick and there was a premature explosion.

In the trial of this case, the judgment was given to the defendant, based on what was later admitted to be erroneous instructions to the jury. However, in arguing the case, to the Appellate Court, the defendant contended that it did not make any difference whether or not the instructions were erroneous, as the plaintiff had not made out a submissible case, and consequently the correctness or incorrectness of the instructions would have no bearing on the liability of the defendant. The Court agreed that the plaintiff would have no claim if a submissible case had not been made. The defendant further contended that the cause of the premature explosion was strictly a matter of *circumstantial evidence* and *conjecture* (emphasis supplied) and that there was no direct evidence to show the real cause of the explosion. The Court held that there was circumstantial evidence and that a number of inferences might be drawn as to the cause of the explosion but that even though several inferences might be drawn, the plaintiff had made out a submissible case and the *inferences* could be *concentrated* (emphasis supplied) and become basis for final liability. The case was reversed and remanded.

From the foregoing cases and the rules set forth therein,

it would seem clear that the plaintiff should be allowed to show all of the surrounding circumstances and facts concerning the actual explosion and the defendant be allowed to show any circumstances or theory which they have which might explain the explosion and then permit the jury to determine the actual cause of the accident.

To refuse to permit the jury to determine these facts was error and the motion for summary judgment should have been denied.

#### POINT NO. IV

THAT EVEN IF THE PLAINTIFF COULD NOT PROVE HIS CASE BY DIRECT OR CIRCUMSTANTIAL EVIDENCE, THE CASE SHOULD BE TRIED AND PERMITTED TO GO TO THE JURY ON THE THEORY OF RES IPSA LOQUITUR.

The theory of res ipsa loquitur—meaning the thing speaks for itself—has been applied in numerous explosion cases similar in nature to the case at hand and should have been applied in this case. If res ipsa loquitur is allowed in this case, the plaintiff would only be required to show that he was free from negligence in the handling of the caps and dynamite. After it was shown that he was free from negligence, the jury could infer that there had been negligence on the part of the manufacturer from the fact of the explosion itself.

In the early application of the doctrine, a number of jurisdictions established the theory that the defendant, at the time of the accident had to have an actual physical control of the

object which caused the injury. These cases are practically universally outmoded in the present trend, which will be seen from the cases cited and the rules set forth therein. It is now almost universally recognized that if the manufacturer, the defendant, was negligent even though the particular item which caused the injury passed through many hands if the item was not changed but remained in the same state as when it left the control of the manufacturer and the plaintiff does nothing to contribute to the accident, then the theory of *res ipsa loquitur* applies.

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