1982

# John G. Matievitch v. Hercules Powder Company : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

#### ARGUMENT

1. There was no genuine issue of material fact in this case.

While the *cause* of plaintiff's accident remains in question, it will be seen from the statement of the record below that the basic facts with respect to what had occurred were simply not in dispute. The real issue below, as well as here, was one of *law* as applied to these undisputed facts.

By this action plaintiff undertook the burden of proof to establish that the defendant was negligent in some respect in connection with the manufacture of a particular one of the hundreds of thousands of blasting caps or dynamite sticks which defendant has produced at its various plants. These caps, packed in bulk with instructions as to use, as well as the dynamite, are distributed throughout the world through wholesale and retail outlets, and far beyond defendant's control.

To meet this burden of proof and in the admitted absence of any evidence, plaintiff in effect urges this court to promulgate a rule of law that in the event of any explosion, the manufacturer of any of the components contributing to the explosion must permit a jury to speculate as to the cause of the accident. This of course is not the law of negligence, but is a doctrine of absolute manufacturer's liability for all practical purposes.

a. In addition to urging this rule of law, discussed hereinafter, plaintiff would support his case by permitting an expression of raw opinion by an alleged "expert" as to cause.

Attention is invited to the details of Rudelich's gratuitous conclusion as an old powderman that this particular accident, occurring in a hazardous occupation where any number of factors may have caused the accident, was due to faulty manufacture. A reading of this affidavit (R. 20 to 22) discloses not only the incompetence of the powderman to express an opinion as to *manufacture*, but that its use is simply fantastic as a substitute for competent factual evidence of negligent manufacture. We are even left to speculate as to whether the negligent manufacture was as to the blasting cap, or as to the dynamite.

The affidavit is the equivalent of plaintiff's in a motor vehicle case expressing his raw personal opinion that he was not negligent, but that the defendant was.

Of course these are the very matters which the trier of the facts is to determine, assuming competent evidence raises a dispute of fact which requires determination.

It will be noted that Rudelich's affidavit avers nothing whatsoever with respect to any "special knowledge, skill, experience or training" in the *manufacture* of explosives, as required by Rule 402 of the Model Code of Evidence. This rule merely re-states the well settled law; and since the fact at issue was defendant's alleged negligence in the manufacture of its products, the rejection by the lower court of this affidavit was obviously understandable. Rule 56 (e) requires such affidavits to "set forth such facts as would be admissible in evidence", and also establish that affiant was "competent to testify to the matters stated therein." Accordingly, the conclusions of such affidavit, although under oath, are worth no more than the bare assertion by counsel in the complaint, under his professional certificate, that the explosion was due to defendant's negligence. Neither per se is the equivalent of the evidence necessary to support such a charge; and the burden of establishing these charges by competent evidence rests upon plaintiff, not defendant.

b. Nor can an issue raised in the pleadings be sufficient to raise a genuine issue of fact for the purposes of the summary judgment procedure, when the evidence is set forth under oath in competent affidavit or deposition form. Plaintiff's contention (page 8) that an issue in the pleadings per se constitutes a genuine issue would

of course destroy the efficacy of motions under Rule 56 and defeat the purpose of the procedure. *Engl v. Aetna Life Ins. Co.*, 139 F. 2d 469, 473; Rule 56, note subdivision (e) page 50, May 8, 1954 Report of Advisory Committee on Rules for Civil Procedure of the Supreme Court of the United States.

If there *is* a genuine issue of fact, admittedly the motion for summary judgment should be denied. *Young v. Felornia*, ..... *Utah* ....., 244 P. 2d 862; although the order pursuant to section (d) of Rule 56 should proceed to cover appropriate pretrial matters.

*c.* Nor, as plaintiff contends (page 9), are theories the equivalent of the competent evidence necessary to create genuine fact issues. Plaintiff is still free to present and argue whatever theories were proper below under the *facts*. His trouble is the absence of facts to support his averment, first, that defendant negligently manufactured a product, and secondly, that this negligence in manufacture was the proximate cause of plaintiff's injuries. Of course if such negligence and causation are proved, there would be liability under the rules quoted by plaintiff from the Restatement in 2 Torts A.L.I. § § 388 et seq.

In this connection it might be well to reiterate that *negligence in manufacture* is here the basis of plaintiff's cause of action. It is not breach of warranty, as in *Park*

v. Moorman, or negligence in warning as to use, which was the cause of action in the Hopkins case and in other cases relied upon in plaintiff's brief.

Counsel appears to misconstrue or misunderstand the function of the summary judgment procedure, which is designed for situations such as this where competent evidence as to the material facts is either lacking, or is not in dispute. In either case, there remains nothing for the trier of facts to determine, since there is no issue as to the material facts. With the expedition afforded by the summary judgment procedure, the legal questions can be determined without the delay, expense and inconvenience otherwise resulting in calling the case for trial, impaneling a jury, permitting witnesses such as plaintiff to testify, and then determining the matter on a proper motion for a directed verdict.

The genuine issue in this case still remains the *legal* one of whether or not *res ipsa loquitur* could be invoked as a rule of law under the undisputed facts of this accident. If so, admittedly a jury question would be presented; if not, the summary judgment was proper, for otherwise no genuine issue of fact was in this case.



**2. Res ipsa loquitur does not here apply.**

No one here questions the propriety of the court's extension of the doctrine of *res ipsa loquitur* to fact-situations of a modern world. This is the strength of the common law.

*a.* One may not under certain conditions expect a properly manufactured and installed water pipe to burst, a new tire to explode upon inflation, or a bottle of beverage to explode, without the probability of negligence on the part of the manufacturer or producer, any more than we would expect electricity to cause damage to a pedestrian or a street lamp to fall upon him, etc., etc., without the probability of negligence on the part of the persons in control of these various instrumentalities.

Throughout all such fact-situations, and as said by courts and text writers everywhere, for the occurrence itself to bespeak of negligence on the part of those in control, the accident must be the kind that ordinarily does not occur in the absence of negligence; and the accident must be caused by an agency or instrumentality still within the exclusive practical control of the party charged with negligence. The basis of the doctrine and quotations from cases and the texts with respect to its application to a particular case have been reiterated time and time again by this court; e.g., *Jordan v. Coca Cola Bottling Co.*, 117 Utah 578, 218 P 2d 660.

In sharp contrast to fact-situations where the doctrine has been applied as a matter of law to raise an inference of negligence, is the situation pertaining to the

blasting cap. In its very nature it is inherently explosive; its use is not in the control of the manufacturer. News stories over the years unfortunately have been and still are replete with reports of boys injured while trespassing and playing with caps, and of accidents from explosives to workmen such as plaintiff. The reported causes are almost invariably carelessness on the part of persons handling these sensitive caps, rather than negligence in their production. The instrumentalities exploded, just as they were designed to do.

Society's remedy—admittedly as inadequate in one sense to the injured as are monetary damages in any personal injury case, is the coverage apart from negligence of workmen's compensation laws, plus safety laws and inspections to prevent such tragedies as occurred to plaintiff in the course of his employment.

b. Here the record is silent concerning not only the manufacture of this particular cap and dynamite by defendant, but also as to the progress of these products from the point of manufacture and packing in cases and boxes with instructions. We pick up the trail long after, when plaintiff is reported to have selected the particular cap and dynamite stick from the powderhouse of the employer.

We *do* know that plaintiff *alone* was in control of the operation. It was plaintiff who placed the blasting materials in the particular drill hole. Also we know that

unfortunately the plaintiff was not following the manufacturer's explicit instructions as to priming the charge. His method of loading reminds one of another old hard-rock miner's practice: crimping the blasting cap onto the fuses with his teeth. The reasons for abandonment of both practices—tooth-crimping, and dropping the dynamite stick down the drill hole on top of the previously inserted cap and fuse—are the same: sad experience with the older and more primitive methods simply resulted in too many accidents of the very type which occurred in this case.

It matters not that in plaintiff's opinion (R. 38) or in the instructions of his old-time teacher Rukovina (R. 37) or that in the opinion of "expert" Rudelich (R. 21), the practice of first inserting the cap on its fishhook fuse could be done without causing an explosion. Experience had demonstrated—at least to others—that to permit contact of the sensitive detonator against the hard-rock substances of the drill holes *might* and probably here did cause an accident.

If anything, the fact-situation which we have in this case bespeaks of plaintiff's *own* negligence as the person in control, carelessly failing to follow instruction issued by the manufacturer as to the particular products; and not that defendant was negligent in the manufacture of a product which exploded in the course of the very work for which the product was designed, and in a manner of use for which warning was given.

c. That *res ipsa loquitur* does not apply to fact-situations pertaining to explosion of dynamite caps in cases comparable to plaintiff's, are the following:

35 C.J.S. § 11—EXPLOSIVES:

\* \* \*

The mere explosion of dynamite caps carries with it no presumption of negligence on the part of the manufacturer or seller, and the injured person has the burden of proving that the manufacturer or seller was guilty of the negligence charged, particularly where such explosive is not under the exclusive control of defendant. Similarly, in an action against the manufacturer of a powder fuse for injuries resulting to a purchaser from a delayed explosion, plaintiff has the burden of proving defendant's negligence. However, in a minor plaintiff's action based on defendant's unlawful sale of a torpedo to him, he is not required to prove that the torpedo contained a dangerous and explosive substance, within the statute.

See also 22 Am. Jur., Explosions and Explosives, §§ 73 and 95.

*Sierocinski v. E. I. DuPont de Nemours & Co.*, 118 F. 2d 531, was a dynamite cap case where the explosion occurred upon crimping. There the United States Court of Appeals affirmed the District Court below, which refused to apply *res ipsa loquitur* in the following words:

\* \* \*

\* \* \* Here, the defendant was not in control of the instrumentality which inflicted the injury. The custody and manner of using the cap was in the exclusive control of the plaintiff. While the defendant's manufacture of the cap was admitted, what the circumstances of its storage and care had been from the time it left the defendant's possession until the plaintiff's employer purchased it was not traced. Proof of manufacture was not sufficient to impute continued control to the defendant. See *Zahniser et al v. Pennsylvania Torpedo Co., Ltd.*, 190 Pa. 350, 353, 42 A. 707. In fact, the plaintiff's proof did not exclude the possibility of intervening fault (occurring between the time the Magnesia Company received the cap and the time the plaintiff took it from the storage magazine for use) for which the defendant would not be responsible. What the Supreme Court of Pennsylvania said in *Rucinski v. Cohn*, 297 Pa. 105, 115, 146 A. 445, 448, where the defendant was out of control of the instrumentality, is apposite here, "it would extend the rule of responsibility to unwarranted lengths and make it virtually that of *res ipsa loquitur* to sustain a recovery under the facts as here shown."

It will be remembered that plaintiff's failure to follow the manufacturer's instructions as to method of priming might here speculatively have been the cause of the accident. The *Sierocinski* case above is also pertinent in this connection, the court saying:

But even if the evidence warranted a finding that the defendant's original control had been unbroken down to the time of the accident, neither

the rule of *res ipsa loquitur* nor the doctrine of exclusive control was available to the plaintiff. There is evidence in the plaintiff's case from which it could be reasonably inferred that the accident happened in a manner for which the defendant was not blameable. One of the plaintiff's witnesses, who was 50 to 75 feet from the scene at the time of the accident, testified that there were two explosions. Another witness, who came to the scene immediately after the accident, testified to finding the crimpers undamaged lying on the top of the "Day magazine" and also some cut fuses; that he found three fuses with exploded caps and a like number with unexploded caps hanging on nearby bushes; that physical evidences of the explosion were found on the ground 9 feet from the "day magazine"; and that the plaintiff had then said that he had had seven or eight fuse caps in his hand just prior to the accident. The plaintiff himself testified that the great toe of his left foot was blown off although protected by a heavy working shoe and that he also suffered injuries to his legs, chest, arms, throat and face. In these circumstances, an inference that the accident was precipitated by the plaintiff's stepping upon a cap while bending over to recover some dropped caps would not have been unreasonable. The matter for consideration in this connection is not the choosing of one inference against another. Credibility is not for the court. *The thing of importance is that an inference exculpating the defendant from guilt could also be reasonably drawn from the evidence. That, of itself, is sufficient to prevent the application of res ipsa loquitur or the doctrine of exclusive control.* As was said in *Coralnick v. Abbotts Dairies*, 337 Pa. 344, 345, 11 A. 2d 143, 144, "There being causes apparent, other than those within defendant's control, to which the accident might with equal fair-

ness be attributed, the doctrine of *res ipsa loquitur* does not apply." And, the same has been said as to the inapplicability of the doctrine of exclusive control. *Zahniser et al v. Pennsylvania Torpedo Co., Ltd.*, *supra*, 190 Pa. at page 353, 42 A. 707. See also *Norris v. Philadelphia Electric Co.*, *supra*, 334 Pa. at page 165, 5 A. 2d 114, and *Clark v. Pennsylvania Power & Light Co.*, 336 Pa. 75, 80, 6 A. 2d 892.

Finally, the Federal Court opinion had this to say with respect to alleged breach of warranty:

The appellee argues on this appeal, apparently for the first time, that the judgment may be sustained on the basis of a breach of warranty by the defendant. Aside from no relation having been shown to support a warranty by the defendant in favor of the plaintiff, the case was pleaded, tried and submitted on the ground of alleged negligence. The plaintiff having failed to sustain the burden of proving negligence either directly or circumstantially, the defendant was entitled to an affirmance of its request for a directed verdict.

This court has had occasion to deal with faulty operation of fuse cases in the appeal of *Buhler v. Maddison*, 105 Utah 39, 140 P. 2d 933. We quote as follows:

\*\*\* Plaintiff continued to use the same fuse. On July 2, 1941, he placed a charge of dynamite in a hole in the tunnel to which he attached the primer—a piece of fuse about 14 inches in length with the cap attached. He lighted the fuse and he and Kay then retired a safe distance and waited

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